
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 
 

WYNDHAM VACATION OWNERSHIP, 
et al.,  
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
v. Case No:  6:19-cv-00476-GAP-EJK 
 
CHARLES E. GALLAGHER, 
WILLIAM P. STEWART, JR., 
GALLAGHER-CLIFTON, LLC, 
TIMESHARE OWNERS RELIEF, 
LLC, RESORT LEGAL TEAM, INC., 
ALLEVIATE CONSULTING LLC 
and CLAYTON ANTHONY 
GONZALEZ, 
 
 Defendants. 
  
 

 
ORDER 

Plaintiffs Wyndham Vacation Ownership, Inc.; Wyndham Vacation Resorts, Inc.; 

Wyndham Resort Development Corporation; Shell Vacations, LLC; SVC-West, LLC; SVC-

Americana, LLC; and SVC Hawaii, LLC (collectively, “Wyndham”) sue Defendants Charles E. 

Gallagher (“Gallagher”); William P. Stewart Jr. (“Stewart”); Gallagher-Clifton, LLC  

(“Gallagher-Clifton”); Timeshare Owners Relief, LLC (“Timeshare Owners Relief”); and 

Resort Legal Team, Inc. (“Resort Legal Team”) (collectively, “Defendants”). 1 

Currently before the Court is the Motion to Dismiss filed by Stewart, Gallagher-Clifton, 

and Timeshare Owners Relief (Doc. 47); the Motion to Dismiss filed by Resort Legal Team (Doc. 
 

1 Wyndham also sues Alleviate Consulting LLC and Clayton Anthony Gonzalez. But those 
parties have not yet appeared in this case. Therefore, the Court limits its discussion to the 
abovementioned Defendants. 
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58); the Motion to Dismiss filed by Gallagher (Doc. 59); and the Responses in Opposition filed by 

Wyndham (Docs. 54, 60, 61). Upon consideration, Defendants’ motions are denied. 

I. Background2 

A. The Parties 

1. Wyndham 

Wyndham is an Orlando-based entity that develops and sells timeshare properties. (Doc. 

41, ¶¶ 1, 10–17). Buyers of Wyndham’s timeshare properties (hereinafter, “Wyndham Owners”) 

execute purchase agreements with Wyndham, agreeing to pay their share of common expenses, 

assessments, maintenance fees, and all other expenses incurred in the operation of their timeshare 

unit. (Id. ¶ 42.) Buyers who cannot pay outright can obtain financing by executing a promissory 

note and mortgage which are referenced and incorporated in the purchase agreement. (Id.). “These 

timeshare contracts are legally binding contracts and, after the passage of a statutory rescission 

period, cannot be unilaterally rescinded without Wyndham’s express agreement.” (Id.).  

2. Defendants 

Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team are timeshare cancellation companies 

based in Florida and Nevada, respectively. (Id. ¶¶ 22, 23, 76, 79). Gallagher is a licensed Georgia 

attorney, who resides in Destin, Florida. (Id. ¶ 18). Gallagher-Clifton is a non-law firm entity 

based in Destin, Florida. (Id. ¶¶ 20–21). It is owned by Gallagher, “and at least in part, by non-

lawyers, including Stewart.” (Id. ¶¶ 67, 73, 3, 9). Stewart directs the activities of Timeshare 

Owners Relief and Gallagher-Clifton. (Id. ¶ 72). He is a resident of Florida. (Id. ¶ 19). 

 

 
2 These facts are taken from the Amended Complaint (Doc. 41), the allegations of which 

the Court must accept as true when considering a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim 
under Rule 12(b)(6). See Jackson v. Okaloosa County, Fla., 21 F.3d 1531, 1534 (11th Cir. 1994). 
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B. Defendants’ Scheme 

According to Wyndham, Defendants have concocted a scheme whereby they deceive 

timeshare owners, including Wyndham Owners, into believing that Defendants have a 

“‘guaranteed’ ability to ‘terminate’ or ‘cancel’” timeshare contracts. (Id. ¶ 44). But, “Defendants 

possess no such ability.” (Id. ¶ 45). They simply “take up large, upfront fees from” Wyndham 

Owners “and then do little or nothing on their behalf other than directing” them to stop making 

payments to Wyndham. (Id. ¶ 46). As a result, Wyndham Owners default on their timeshare 

obligations, foreclosure ensues, and Wyndham suffers substantial harm. (Id.). 

Wyndham submits the following organizational chart to illustrate Defendants’ alleged 

scheme, which the Court discusses in greater detail below. 
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Defendants’ scheme begins with Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team. These 

two companies allegedly publish false and misleading advertisements designed to lure in 

consumers, including Wyndham Owners. (Id. ¶ 75).  

At Stewart’s direction and control, Timeshare Owners Relief primarily advertises its 

“timeshare cancellation services” through its website, www.timeshareownersrelief.com (“TOR’s 

Website”), which is currently “deactivated”. (Id. ¶¶ 76, 72, 92). Prior to its deactivation, TOR’s 

Website advertised, inter alia, that Timeshare Owners Relief’s “system” provided “the easiest and 

most affordable way” to rid owners of their timeshare contracts and that Timeshare Owners 

Relief’s “solution” was “risk-free” and backed by a “100% money back guarantee” (“TOR’s 

Advertisements”). (Id. ¶ 77(a), (b); see, e.g., Docs. 41-2, 41-3 (archived copies of the website)).  

Wyndham claims that TOR’s Advertisements are false and/or misleading because: (1) 

“Timeshare Owners Relief does not have a ‘system’ and their actions—i.e. causing defaults of 

contracts—is not ‘risk-free’”; and (2) Timeshare Owners Relief’s “100% money back guarantee” 

is illusory because it considers foreclosure to be a successful exit and will, therefore, refuse to 

refund money to consumers who undergo foreclosure. (Id. ¶ 77(a), (b)). 

For its part, Resort Legal Team advertises through direct-to-consumer mailers and through 

its website, www.resortlegalteam.com (“RLT’s Website”). (Id. ¶ 79; see, e.g., Docs. 41-7, 41-8, 

41-9 (copies of the website); Doc. 41-10 (a copy of a direct-to-consumer mailer). RLT’s Website 

advertises, inter alia, that: (1) Resort Legal Team will match Wyndham Owners “with an attorney 

who will be retained on [their] behalf[;]” (2) Resort Legal Team will “ascertain exactly the best 

approach for [Wyndham Owners] to build [a] case[;]” (3) “there are no timeshare contracts with 

any timeshare developer [that] [Resort Legal Team] can[not] 100% guarantee release from[;]” and 
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(4) the owner will see “100% success” or get their “money back [from] Resort Legal Team” 

(“RLT’s Advertisements”). (Id. ¶ 80(a)–(b), (d)–(f)). 

Wyndham alleges that RLT’s Advertisements are false and/or misleading because: (1) 

“Resort Legal Team forwards ‘cases’ to non-lawyers whom it passes off as lawyers, such as 

Stewart[;]” (2) in cases where Resort Legal Team “refer[s] a Wyndham Owner to an attorney, that 

attorney is not actually acting as the attorney for the Wyndham Owner[;]” (3) Resort Legal Team 

does not develop strategies unique to each Wyndham Owner’s case but, instead, uses the same 

strategy for all Wyndham Owners (i.e. “forcing a foreclosure and hoping Wyndham will negotiate 

along the way”); (4) Resort Legal Team cannot, as it claims, “guarantee a release from” any 

timeshare developer; and (5) Resort Legal Team does not actually refund any monies to 

consumers as it considers a foreclosure to be a “success”. (Doc. 41, ¶ 80(a)–(b), (d)–(f)). 

After Wyndham Owners are lured in by RLT’s Advertisements and TOR’s Advertisements 

(the “Subject Advertisements”), Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team instruct said 

owners to cease making payments under their timeshare contracts. (Id. ¶¶ 9, 53). Timeshare 

Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team have “no legitimate basis” for telling Wyndham Owners to 

stop making payments. (Id. ¶¶ 50–51, 54–55). The instruction is given solely to divert payments 

from Wyndham and to create the impression that Wyndham Owners are saving money so that 

Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team can justify their fees. (Id. ¶¶ 50–51, 54–55).  

To prevent Wyndham Owners from learning about the status of their accounts, Timeshare 

Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team advise Wyndham Owners not to contact Wyndham, telling 

them that doing so will facilitate the exit process. (Id. ¶¶ 52, 56). Timeshare Owners Relief and 

Resort Legal Team then refer the solicited Wyndham Owners to Gallagher-Clifton—the “fake law 

firm” owned by Gallagher “and at least in part, by non-lawyers, including Stewart. (Id. ¶¶ 3, 9, 64, 
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67–68). Upon receipt of those referrals, Gallagher-Clifton—specifically, Gallagher—sends 

demand letters (“Demand Letters”) to Wyndham. (Id. ¶¶ 70, 73). In the Demand Letters, 

Gallagher purports to represent the referred Wyndham Owners and instructs Wyndham to direct 

all future communications to Gallagher-Clifton. (Id. ¶¶ 70; see e.g., Doc. 41-6 (sample of the 

Demand Letters sent to Wyndham)).  

Gallagher-Clifton fulfills a critical role in Defendants scheme for two reasons. First, 

Gallagher-Clifton facilitates the falsehood that Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team 

“are providing ‘legal’ solutions and that there are ‘lawyers’ working on behalf of consumers, 

including Wyndham Owners.” (Doc. 41, ¶ 69). Second, Gallagher-Clifton contributes to 

Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team’s goal of preventing Wyndham Owners from 

communicating with Wyndham. (Id. ¶ 70).  

Defendants’ purported scheme causes Wyndham Owners to default on their timeshare 

contracts, leaving them subject to foreclosure, which Wyndham eventually initiates. (Id. ¶¶ 46, 50, 

54, 70). Despite this, Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team claim victory by telling the 

defaulted “Wyndham Owners that they were ‘successful’ in ‘cancelling’” their timeshare 

contracts. (Id. ¶¶ 50, 54). As a result, Wyndham has suffered and continues to suffer economic 

harm. (Id. ¶¶ 46, 98, 109, 120, 126, 146, 157, 165).  

Seeking injunctive and monetary relief, Wyndham sued Defendants on March 11, 2019. 

(Doc. 1). In an Amended Complaint, Wyndham asserts federal law claims for: (1) false advertising 

in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1) against Timeshare Owners Relief and 

Stewart (Count I); (2) false advertising in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1) 

against Resort Legal Team (Count II); (3) false advertising in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1) against Alleviate and Gonzalez (Count III); and (4) contributory false 
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advertising in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1) against Gallagher, Stewart, and 

Gallagher-Clifton (Count IV). (Id. ¶¶ 89–133). 

Additionally, Wyndham asserts state law claims against all the Defendants for: (1) tortious 

interference with contractual relations (Count V); (2) civil conspiracy to commit tortious 

interference with contractual relations (Count VI); (3) violation of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair 

Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) (Count VII). (Id. ¶¶ 134–167). Defendants now move to 

dismiss the claims asserted against them—specifically, Counts I, II, IV, V, VI and VII. (See Docs. 

47, 58, 59). Wyndham has responded. (See Docs. 54, 60, 61). Therefore, this matter is ripe for 

adjudication.  

II. Legal Standards 

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require pleaders to provide short and plain 

statements of their claims with simple and direct allegations set out in numbered paragraphs and 

distinct counts. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a), 8(d), & 10(b). Where a complaint contains claims of fraud 

or mistake, however, Rule 9(b) imposes a heightened pleading standard, requiring that the 

circumstances constituting fraud be stated with particularity. See Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue 

Shield of Fla., 116 F.3d 1364, 1381 (11th Cir. 1997). This particularity requirement is satisfied if 

the complaint alleges “facts as to time, place, and substance of the defendant’s alleged fraud, 

specifically the details of the defendant’s allegedly fraudulent acts, when they occurred, and who 

engaged in them.” U.S. ex rel. Matheny v. Medco Health Sols., Inc., 671 F.3d 1217, 1223 (11th 

Cir. 2012) (quoting Hopper v. Solvay Pharm., Inc., 588 F.3d 1318, 1324 (11th Cir. 2009)). 

 If a complaint does not comport with the pleading requirements or fails to set forth a 

plausible claim, it may be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6). See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 

672, 678–79 (2009) (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007)). Plausible 
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claims must be founded on sufficient “factual content” to allow the court to draw the reasonable 

inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.  See Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678; see 

also Miljkovic v. Shafritz & Dinkin, P.A., 791 F.3d 1291, 1297 (11th Cir. 2015).  To assess the 

sufficiency of the factual content and the plausibility of a claim, courts draw on their “judicial 

experience and common sense” in considering: (1) the exhibits attached to the complaint; (2) 

matters that are subject to judicial notice; and (3) documents that are undisputed and central to a 

plaintiff’s claim.  See Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679; Reese v. Ellis, Painter, Ratterree & Adams, LLP, 678 

F.3d 1211, 1215–16 (11th Cir. 2012).  

Courts do not consider other matters outside the four corners of the complaint, and they 

must: (1) disregard conclusory allegations, bald legal assertions, and formulaic recitation of the 

elements of a claim; (2) accept the truth of well-pled factual allegations; and (3) view well-pled 

facts in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. See Hayes v. U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n, 648 Fed. 

App’x. 883, 887 (11th Cir. 2016);3 Horsley v. Feldt, 304 F.3d 1125, 1134 (11th Cir. 2002).  

III. Analysis 

Preliminarily, Stewart, Gallagher-Clifton, and Timeshare Owners Relief argue that venue 

is improper in the Middle District of Florida.4 (Doc. 47, pp. 4–8).  

Venue over a defendant entity is controlled by 28 U.S.C. § 1391, which provides that an 

action may be commenced in: 

 
3 “Unpublished opinions are not controlling authority and are persuasive only insofar as 

their legal analysis warrants.”  Bonilla v. Baker Concrete Const., Inc., 487 F.3d 1340, 1345 (11th 
Cir. 2007). 

4 Stewart, Gallagher-Clifton, and Timeshare Owners Relief contend that Wyndham has 
failed to comply with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a) because the Amended Complaint was 
filed twenty-one (21) days after service of a responsive pleading and without the written consent 
of the other parties or leave of Court. (Doc. 47, p. 2). However, Wyndham subsequently filed a 
Renewed Motion for Leave to Amend (Doc. 49), which the Court granted on July 25, 2019, nunc 
pro tunc. (Doc. 51.) Therefore, this issue is moot.  
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(1) a judicial district in which any defendant resides, if all 
defendants are residents of the State in which the district is located; 

 
(2) a judicial district in which a substantial part of the events or 
omissions giving rise to the claim occurred, or a substantial part of 
property that is the subject of the action is situated; or 

 
(3) if there is no district in which an action may otherwise be 
brought as provided in this section, any judicial district in which any 
defendant is subject to the court’s personal jurisdiction with respect 
to such action. 
 

28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

Relying on § 1391(b)(1), Stewart, Gallagher-Clifton, and Timeshare Owners Relief argue 

that proper venue lies in the Northern District of Florida “where all of the Florida Defendants 

reside exclusive of Resort Legal Team, Alleviate Consulting, and Clayton Anthony Gonzalez, 

Missouri residents, who will likely challenge jurisdiction.” (Doc. 47, pp. 4–7). This argument 

lacks merit. The fact that Legal Resort Team, Alleviate, and Gonzalez may challenge jurisdiction 

is immaterial. Legal Resort Team, Alleviate, and Gonzalez all reside outside the State of Florida, 

therefore § 1391(b)(1) is clearly inapplicable.  

Besides, Wyndham has shown that venue is proper in Middle District of Florida pursuant 

to § 1391(b)(2) because a “substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim 

occurred” here, in Orlando, Florida. (Id. ¶ 38). To be sure, this entire action arises out of 

Defendants’ purported interference with Wyndham’s timeshare contracts, the payments of which 

were to be made to Wyndham in Orlando. (Doc. 41, ¶¶ 2, 10–17, 42). Furthermore, as a critical 

part of Defendants’ purported scheme, they: (1) sent, or encouraged to be sent, numerous Demand 

Letters to Wyndham in Orlando; and (2) published, or encouraged the publication, of false and 

misleading advertising statements that were widely accessible to consumers in Orlando. (Doc. 41-
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6; Doc. 41, ¶¶ 8, 10–17, 129). Accordingly, the Court finds that venue is proper in the Middle 

District of Florida and turns to Defendants’ substantive arguments.  

A. Federal Law Claims  

1. False Advertising under the Lanham Act (Counts I and II) 

 Timeshare Owners Relief, Resort Legal Team, and Stewart move to dismiss Wyndham’s 

claims for false advertising under the Lanham Act—specifically, Counts I and II. (Doc. 47, ¶¶ 89–

111). The Lanham Act provides in pertinent part that: 

(1) Any person who, on or in connection with any goods or services, or any 
container for goods, uses in commerce any word, term, name, symbol, or device, or 
any combination thereof, or any false designation of origin, false or misleading 
description of fact, or false or misleading representation of fact, which-- 
. . . 
 
(B) in commercial advertising or promotion, misrepresents the nature, 
characteristics, qualities, or geographic origin of his or her or another person’s 
goods, services, or commercial activities, shall be liable in a civil action by any 
person who believes that he or she is or is likely to be damaged by such act. 
 

15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  

 Section 1125(a) of the Lanham Act “extends only to plaintiffs whose interests fall within 

the zone of interests protected by” the Lanham Act.  Lexmark Int’l, Inc. v. Static Control 

Components, Inc., 572 U.S. 118, 129 (2014) (internal quotations omitted). Section 45 of the 

Lanham Act, codified at 15 U.S.C. § 1127, provides a detailed statement of those interests:   

The intent of this chapter is to regulate commerce within the control 
of Congress by making actionable the deceptive and misleading use 
of marks in such commerce; to protect registered marks used in such 
commerce from interference by State, or territorial legislation; to 
protect persons engaged in such commerce against unfair 
competition; to prevent fraud and deception in such commerce by 
the use of reproductions, copies, counterfeits, or colorable imitations 
of registered marks; and to provide rights and remedies stipulated by 
treaties and conventions respecting trademarks, trade names, and 
unfair competition entered into between the United States and 
foreign nations. 
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“[A] typical false advertising case will implicate only the Act’s goal of ‘protect[ing] 

persons engaged in [commerce within the control of Congress] against unfair competition.’”  

Lexmark at 131.  Thus, a Lanham Act plaintiff asserting a claim for false advertising must allege 

an injury to a commercial interest in reputation or sales. Id. at 131–32. Further, to allege proximate 

cause, a plaintiff suing under the Lanham Act “must show economic or reputational injury flowing 

directly from the deception wrought by the defendant’s advertising.”  Id. at 133.  

For the Lanham Act claim itself, a plaintiff must allege that: 

(1) the defendant’s statements were false or misleading; (2) the 
statements deceived, or had the capacity to deceive, consumers; (3) 
the deception had a material effect on the consumers’ purchasing 
decision; (4) the misrepresented service affects interstate commerce; 
and (5) the plaintiff has been, or likely will be, injured as a result of 
the false or misleading statement. 

 
Sovereign Military Hospitaller Order of St. John of Jerusalem of Rhodes & of Malta v. Fla. Priory 

of Knights Hospitallers, 702 F.3d 1279, 1294 (11th Cir. 2012).  

 In moving to dismiss Counts I and II, Timeshare Owners Relief, Resort Legal Team, and 

Stewart (the “Lanham Claim Defendants”) do not attack the five enumerated elements of 

Wyndham’s Lanham Act claims. (Doc. 47, pp. 11–18; Doc. 58, pp. 8–14). Instead, they argue 

that: (1) Wyndham does not fall within the zone of interests protected by the Lanham Act; (2) 

Wyndham’s alleged injuries were not proximately caused by the Subject Advertisements; and (3) 

the Subject Advertisements do not constitute commercial advertising or promotion under the 

Lanham Act. (See Doc. 47, pp. 11–18; Doc. 58, pp. 8–14). The Court addresses each argument in 

turn. 

a. Zone of Interest  

 As noted above, “to come within the zone of interests in a suit for false advertising under 

Section 1125(a), a plaintiff must allege an injury to a commercial interest in reputation or sales.” 
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Lexmark, 572 U.S. at 132 (emphasis added). Here, Wyndham alleges that it suffered an injury to 

its commercial interests in sales when the Lanham Claim Defendants published the Subject 

Advertisements to lure Wyndham Owners into hiring Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal 

Owners, who then instructed said owners to stop making payments due to Wyndham under their 

timeshare contracts. 5 (See Doc. 41, ¶¶ 49–56, 64–80, 93–98, 103–109)). This is “precisely the 

sort[] of commercial interest[] the [Lanham] Act protects,” Lexmark, 572 U.S. at 137, therefore, 

Wyndham falls within the Act’s zone of interests.  

b. Proximate Cause  

A plaintiff suing under § 1125(a) must plead proximate cause. To do this, a plaintiff must 

ordinarily allege an “economic or reputational injury flowing directly from the deception wrought 

by the defendant’s advertising; and that occurs when deception of consumers causes them to 

withhold trade from the plaintiff.” Id. at 133. The Lanham Claim Defendants argue that 

Wyndham’s allegations are insufficient to plead proximate cause because Wyndham fails to allege 

that the Subject Advertisements expressly or implicitly instructed Wyndham Owners to stop 

making payments to Wyndham. (Doc. 58, pp. 10–14; Doc. 47, pp. 12–13, 14–18). In addition, 

Resort Legal Team separately argues that: 

[f]or Wyndham to establish or even plead causation under the 
Lanham Act, many intervening steps would have had to occur—the 
clients would have had to first retain [Resort Legal Team’s] 
services. Then [Resort Legal team] would have had to maliciously 
and intentionally advise the client to discontinue payments, and . . .  
Wyndham would have had to foreclose on the defaulted loan and 
show actual damages after reselling the collateralized timeshare.  
 

(Doc. 58, p. 13). The Court disagrees. 

 
5 Notably, although Resort Legal Team argues that Wyndham does not fall within the 

Lanham Act’s zone of interest, it acknowledges that “Wyndham’s Amended Complaint . . . alleges 
injury, harm, or damages resulting from Wyndham [O]wners’ . . . alleged breaches of their 
contractual obligations.” (See Doc. 58, p. 11). 

Case 6:19-cv-00476-GAP-EJK   Document 62   Filed 09/10/19   Page 12 of 24 PageID 1207



 
 

- 13 - 
 

 The Lanham Claim Defendants provide no authority to support its contention that the 

Subject Advertisements must have directed Wyndham Owners to withhold trade from Wyndham. 

To the contrary, “[c]ourts have found that causation just requires that the false advertising 

proximately cause the claimed injury—it need not be the only cause or even the predominant 

cause of the injury.” Diamond Resorts Int’l, Inc. v. Aaronson, 371 F. Supp. 3d 1088, 1110 (M.D. 

Fla. 2019) (quoting J & M Turner, Inc. v. Applied Bolting Tech. Prods., Inc., No. CIV.A. 96-5819, 

1997 WL 83766, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 19, 1997). Moreover, “Supreme Court precedent shows that 

an intervening step will not vitiate proximate cause in all instances. What is more important . . . is 

the certainty with which . . . the injury is fairly attributable to the statutory violation.” City of 

Miami v. Wells Fargo & Co., 923 F.3d 1260, 1273 (11th Cir. 2019).  

Here, Wyndham alleges that the Lanham Claim Defendants published false and/or 

misleading advertising statements that caused Wyndham Owners to hire Timeshare Owners Relief 

and Resort Legal Team, who then instructed those same owners to cease making payments to 

Wyndham under their timeshare contracts. As a result, Wyndham suffered economic harm.  (Doc. 

41, ¶¶ 2–7, 46, 44–56, 64–81, 89–111). Taking these allegations as true and disregarding Resort 

Legal Team’s attempt to identify as many intervening steps as possible, the Court finds that 

Wyndham has presented sufficient facts to plead proximate cause. See Westgate Resorts, Ltd. v. 

Reed Hein & Assocs., LLC, No. 6:18-cv-1088-ORL-31DCI, 2018 WL 5279156, at **9–10 (M.D. 

Fla. Oct. 24, 2018); see also Diamond Resorts Int’l, 2018 WL 735627, at *3.  

c. Commercial Competition 

 Despite ample case law addressing this issue, Timeshare Owners Relief and Stewart argue 

that the Subject Advertisement do not constitute “commercial advertising or promotion” under the 

Lanham Act because there is no “commercial competition” between Timeshare Owners Relief and 
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Wyndham.  (Doc. 47, pp. 15–17).  However, competition is not required to bring a claim under the 

Lanham Act.  As the Supreme Court observed in Lexmark: 

a plaintiff who does not compete with the defendant will often have 
a harder time establishing proximate causation. But a rule 
categorically prohibiting all suits by noncompetitors would read too 
much into the Act’s reference to “unfair competition” in § 1127. . . . 
It is thus a mistake to infer that because the Lanham Act treats false 
advertising as a form of unfair competition, it can protect only the 
false-advertiser’s direct competitors. 
 

572 U.S. at 136.  Accordingly, the Court will not dismiss Wyndham’s claim on this ground. See 

Westgate Resorts, 2018 WL 5279156, at *9. 

 Having rejected all the arguments advanced by the Lanham Claim Defendants, the Court 

finds that Wyndham’s Lanham Act claims for false advertising are adequately pled. 

2. Contributory False Advertising under the Lanham Act (Count IV) 

 Gallagher, Stewart, and Gallagher-Clifton move to dismiss Wyndham’s Lanham Act claim 

for contributory false advertising (Count IV). (Doc. 47, ¶¶ 123–133). To state a claim for 

contributory false advertising against a defendant, the plaintiff must adequately allege two 

elements.  First the plaintiff must allege that “a third party . . . directly engaged in false advertising 

that injured the plaintiff.”  Second, the plaintiff must allege that the “the defendant contributed to 

that conduct.”  Duty Free Americas, Inc. v. Estee Lauder Companies, Inc., 797 F.3d 1248, 1277 

(11th Cir. 2015). 

The second element requires the plaintiff to assert that the defendant: (1) “had the 

necessary state of mind — in other words that it ‘intended to participate in’ or actually knew 

about’ the false advertising”; and (2) “actively and materially furthered the unlawful conduct — 

either by inducing it, causing it, or in some other way working to bring it about[,]” such as through 
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the “provision of a necessary product or service, without which the false advertising would not be 

possible.”  Id. (citing Inwood Laboratories, Inc. v. Ives Laboratories, Inc., 456 U.S. 844 (1982)). 

In determining whether a plaintiff has adequately alleged facts to support a claim for 

contributory false advertising, the Eleventh Circuit instructs courts to consider: (1) “the nature and 

extent of the communication between the third party and the defendant regarding the false 

advertising;” (2) “whether or not the [defendant] explicitly or implicitly encouraged the false 

advertising;” (3) “whether the false advertising is serious and widespread, making it more likely 

that the defendant kn[ew] about it and condoned the acts;” and (4) “whether the defendant 

engaged in bad faith refusal to exercise a clear contractual power to halt the false advertising.”  Id. 

at 1278. 

 Gallagher, Stewart, and Gallagher-Clifton (the “Contributory Defendants”) argue that 

Wyndham cannot state a claim for contributory false advertising because its underlying claim for 

false advertising is inadequately plead and must be dismissed. As support, the Contributory 

Defendants raise the same arguments advanced by the Lanham Claim Defendants. (Doc. 47, pp. 

12–13, 14–18; Doc. 59, pp. 1–3). For reasons previously discussed, the Court finds that 

Wyndham’s underlying claim for false advertising is sufficiently pled. So, this argument fails.  

 Next, the Contributory Defendants argue that, even if Wyndham’s underlying claim is 

sufficiently pled, Wyndham fails to present facts to suggest that they explicitly or implicitly 

encouraged the alleged false advertising. (Doc. 47, p. 13; Doc. 59, p. 3). This argument is equally 

unavailing. The Amended Complaint avers that the Contributory Defendants have “full 

knowledge” of the Subject Advertisements and that they explicitly or implicitly encourage said 

advertisements by permitting the Lanham Claim “Defendants to advertise ‘legal services’ and 

promote [the Contributory Defendants] as providing th[ose] ‘legal services’ to Wyndham Owners, 
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who are deceived into believing that they are receiving legal representation when they are, in fact, 

not.” (Id. ¶¶ 128–129). Additionally, the Amended Complaint alleges that the Contributory 

Defendants “financially benefit from the [Subject] Advertisements in the form of client referrals 

and fee splitting with [the Lanham Claim Defendants].” (Id. ¶¶ 130–130)  

Accepting these allegations as true, the Court finds that Wyndham has pled a viable claim 

for contributory false advertising against the Contributory Defendants. Wyndham Vacation 

Ownership, Inc. v. US Consumer Att’ys, P.A., No. 18-81251-CIV-REINHART (S.D. Fla. July 3, 

2019) (Reinhart, M.J.) (Doc. 132, pp. 19–20) (denying a motion to dismiss claims of contributory 

false advertising where similar allegations were made); Duty Free Americas, 797 F.3d at 1274 (an 

entity can be liable if it “continues to supply its [service] to one whom it knows or has reason to 

know is engaging in [false advertising]”). Accordingly, the Court will deny the Contributory 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss. 

B. State Law Claims6 
 

1. Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations (Count V) 
 

Defendants move to dismiss the tortious interference claim asserted against them in Count 

V. To plead a claim for tortious interference with a contract, a plaintiff must allege that: (1) a 

contract exists; (2) the defendant knew about the contract; (3) the defendant intentionally procured 

a breach of the contract; (4) there was no justification or privilege for the breach; and (5) the 

plaintiff suffered damages. Johns Enters. of Jacksonville, Inc. v. FPL Grp., 162 F.3d 1290, 1321 

(11th Cir. 1998) (citing Fla. Tel. Corp. v. Essig, 468 So. 2d 543, 544 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985)). 

“[A]n agent generally cannot be held liable for tortiously interfering with the contract of its 

 
6 Resort Legal Team argues that the Court should not exercise supplemental jurisdiction 

over Wyndham’s state law claims because its federal claims are inadequately pled. (Doc. 58, pp. 
16–17). However, as noted above, Wyndham’s federal law claims are adequately pled. See Part 
III.A. Therefore, the Court exercises supplemental jurisdiction over Wyndham’s state law claims. 
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principle because the agent is privileged to act in the best interest of the principle.” Bray & 

Gillespie Mgmt. LLC v. Lexington Ins. Co., 527 F.Supp.2d 1355, 1367–68 (M.D. Fla. 2007) (citing 

Sloan v. Sax, 505 So. 2d 526, 528 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)). “However, an agent’s ‘privilege to 

interfere’ with the contracts of its principal is not absolute.” Westgate Resorts, Ltd. v. Castle Law 

Grp, P.C., No. 6:17-cv-1063-Orl-31DCI, 2017 WL 6512552, at *3 (M.D. Fla. Dec. 20, 2017) 

(citing Sloan, 505 So.2d at 528). “The privilege is divested when the defendant acts solely with 

ulterior purposes and the advice is not in the principal’s best interest.” Rudnick v. Sears, Roebuck 

& Co., 358 F. Supp. 2d 1201, 1206 (S.D. Fla. 2005) (quoting O.E. Smith’s Sons, Inc. v. George, 

545 So.2d 298, 299 (1st DCA 1989)).  

Timeshare Owners Relief and Stewart argue that they cannot be held liable for any tortious 

interference claim arising after November 8, 2017 because Timeshare Owners Relief “ ceased to 

exist” on that date. (Doc. 47, pp. 19–20). As support, they rely on a printout from Sunbiz.org. 

(Doc. 47-1 (“Sunbiz Exhibit”). However, in ruling on a motion to dismiss, a Court can only 

consider documents “beyond the four corners of the complaint and its attached exhibits” if: (1) the 

documents are subject to judicial notice, or (2) the documents are undisputed and central to the 

plaintiff’s claim. Reese, 678 F.3d at 1215–16; Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Devine, 

233 F. Supp. 3d 1297, 1316 (M.D. Fla. 2017). 

The Sunbiz Exhibit is not central to Wyndham’s case. A document is central to a plaintiff’s 

case if “the plaintiff would have to offer the document to prove his case.” See Lockwood v. 

Beasley, 211 F. App’x 873, 877 (11th Cir. 2006) (citation omitted). Here, Wyndham does not need 

to offer the Sunbiz Exhibit into evidence to prove any of its claims. Therefore, the exhibit does not 

meet the centrality requirement.  

The Sunbiz Exhibit also fails to meet the requirements for judicial notice. Courts can only 
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take judicial notice of certain facts without formal proof only if the fact is “one not subject to 

reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the 

trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy 

cannot reasonably be questioned.” Shahar v. Bowers, 120 F.3d 211, 214 (11th Cir. 1997) (quoting 

Fed. R. Evid. 201) (emphasis added).  

Wyndham disputes Timeshare Owners Relief’s claim that it dissolved in 2017. (See Doc. 

54, pp. 6–7). Indeed, Wyndham avers that the TOR’s Website was available to the public in 2018. 

(See Doc. 54, p. 7 (citing Doc. 41, p. 3, nn. 1–2);7 see also Docs. 41-2, 41-3)). Moreover, the 

Sunbiz Exhibit has not been properly authenticated. Accordingly, the Court declines to consider 

the Sunbiz Exhibit and will not limit Wyndham’s claim for tortious interference at this stage in the 

case. See Lodge v. Kondaur Capital Corp., 750 F.3d 1263, 1274 (11th Cir. 2014) (affirming trial 

court’s decision to decline considering a document from a website because the document was not 

authenticated and was not appropriate for judicial notice). 

In moving to dismiss this claim, Timeshare Owners Relief, Stewart, and Gallagher-Clifton 

mount several other arguments. They argue, for example, that Wyndham’s claim fails because: (1) 

“[n]othing in the advertisements attributed to Timeshare Owners Relief . . . demonstrate that 

Timeshare Owners Relief and Stewart intentionally procured the breach of a Wyndham [Owner’s] 

timeshare [contract] with Wyndham[,]” (Doc. 47, p. 20); (2) “the allegations of tortious 

interference with contractual relations against Defendant Timeshare Owners Relief and Stewart 

are solely conclusory,” (id. at 21); (3) Wyndham “cannot and do[es] not allege damages 

specifically caused by Timeshare Owners Relief and Stewart;” (3) Gallagher-Clifton and Stewart 

did not “advertise at all[,]” (id. at 21); (4) TOR’s False Advertisements did not “guarantee the 

 
7 In its motion, Wyndham appears to inadvertently cite to footnotes 3 and 4.  
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ability to terminate timeshare interests,” (id.); and (5) the Demand Letters sent to “Wyndham . . . 

demonstrate that Defendants are not advocating for the breach of the timeshare contract and, 

instead, demonstrate justification for Defendants’ relationship with [Wyndham Owners] and for 

communications with Wyndham . . . on behalf of timeshare owners/consumers advocating for 

resolution of grievances,” (id. at 23). 

In a separate motion, Gallagher incorporates the abovementioned arguments by reference, 

(see Doc. 59, p. 1), and additionally argues that Wyndham’s claim for tortious interference fails 

because: (1) any advice he gave to Wyndham Owners “was qualified privileged legal advice, 

given in good faith[;]” and (2) the Wyndham Owners were “predisposed to defaulting on their 

debt to Wyndham[,]” (id. at 4). 

These arguments completely ignore the allegations of the Amended Complaint and/or 

invite the Court to weigh the evidence. However, it is inappropriate for the Court to weigh 

evidence on a motion to dismiss. Instead, the Court must accept all well-pled allegations in the 

complaint as true and construe them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Sinaltrainal v. 

Coca-Cola Co., 578 F.3d 1252, 1260 (11th Cir. 2009).  

Here, nothing in the Amended Complaint indicates that Wyndham Owners were 

predisposed to breach. To the contrary, it alleges that Defendants successfully solicited Wyndham 

Owners and then “intentionally procured” the breach of their timeshare contracts with Wyndham 

by instructing and/or inducing them to stop making payments to Wyndham. (See Doc. 41, ¶¶ 49–

56, 64–80, 93–98, 134–139). “If Wyndham Owners knew the truth about Defendants’ illusory 

services or about how Defendants’ actions would adversely impact them, they would not pay 

exorbitant fees to Defendants nor unlawfully terminate . . .  their timeshare interests.” (Id. ¶ 140).  

The Amended Complaint also alleges that Defendants’ actions were not done in good faith, 
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but rather “with an improper motive and . . . with the knowledge and predominant purpose to 

injure Wyndham or with reckless disregard for the attendant consequences.” (Id. ¶ 142). 

“Defendants did not and do not have any justification or privilege in procuring the breach of such 

contractual relationships, as Defendants are strangers to the contractual relationships between 

Wyndham and its Owners, and their interference with Wyndham’s business is willful and 

malicious.” (Id. ¶¶ 144, 145). Finally, with respect to damages, the Amended Complaint avers that 

Defendants’ actions have caused Wyndham to suffer economic harm. (Id. ¶ 146).  

Accepting these allegations as true and construing them in the light most favorable to 

Wyndham, the Court finds that Wyndham states a claim for tortious interference. So, Defendants’ 

arguments lack merit. 

2. Civil Conspiracy (Count VI) 

In Count VI, Wyndham presents a civil conspiracy claim against all Defendants. (Doc. 1, 

¶¶ 150–157).  A civil conspiracy claim requires: (1) an agreement between two or more parties (2) 

to do an unlawful act or to do a lawful act by unlawful means, (3) the doing of some overt act in 

furtherance of the conspiracy, and (4) damage to plaintiff as a result of the acts done under the 

conspiracy. Charles v. Florida Foreclosure Placement Center, LLC, 988 So. 2d 1157, 1159–60 

(Fla. 3d DCA 2008).  

Generally, an agent cannot conspire with his or her corporate principal or employer 

because a conspiracy requires at least two actors, and a corporation is a single entity that can only 

act through its agents, officers, and employees.  Cedar Hills Properties Corp. v. Eastern Federal 

Corp., 575 So. 2d 673, 676 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007). This principle is referred to as the 

“intracorporate conspiracy doctrine,” and extends to the conduct of an attorney acting within the 

scope of an attorney-client relationship.  Farese v. Scherer, 342 F.3d 1223, 1231 (11th Cir. 2003); 
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American Credit Card Telephone Co. v. Nat’l Pay Telephone Corp., 504 So. 2d 486, 488 (Fla. 1st 

DCA 1987).  

Timeshare Owners Relief, Gallagher-Clifton, and Stewart first argue that Wyndham’s 

claims for conspiracy fail because it does not adequately allege its underlying claim for tortious 

interference. For the reasons stated in Part III.B.1, this argument arguments fails.  

Next, Timeshare Owners Relief, Gallagher-Clifton, and Stewart argue that Wyndham’s 

civil conspiracy allegations are conclusory. The Court disagrees. (Doc. 47, p. 24). Wyndham 

adequately alleges that Defendants conspired with one another to tortiously interfere with its 

timeshare contracts. (Doc. 41, ¶¶ 3, 5–9, 44–88, 151–157). It details how each Defendant assisted 

in the alleged conspiracy, the overt actions that each Defendant took, what each Defendant gained, 

and the damages Wyndham suffered as a result. (Doc. 41, ¶¶ 3, 5–9, 44–88, 151–157). Therefore, 

Wyndham has sufficiently pled a claim for conspiracy. 

Relying on the Sunbiz Exhibit, Timeshare Owners Relief, Gallagher-Clifton, and Stewart 

argue that Wyndham’s conspiracy claim is barred by the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine 

because Gallagher-Clifton “came into existence October 20, 2017” and Timeshare Owners Relief 

dissolved on November 8, 2017, therefore they could not have conspired with one another. (Doc. 

47, pp. 24–25.) As discussed above, however, the Court declines to consider the Sunbiz Exhibit 

because it is an unauthenticated document. See Part III.B.1. Moreover, whether Timeshare Owners 

Relief dissolved on November 8, 2017 is a disputed issue of fact. Id. In any event, Timeshare 

Owners Relief, Gallagher-Clifton, and Stewart fail to explain how the intracorporate conspiracy 

doctrine would bar Wyndham’s entire conspiracy claim. Accordingly, this argument lacks merit. 

Gallagher separately argues that the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine shields him from 

conspiracy liability because he acts as an agent to Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal 
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Team. (Doc. 59, p. 4). This argument misses the mark. The Amended Complaint does not allege 

that Gallagher is an agent to Timeshare Owners Relief or Resort Legal Team. Rather, the 

Amended Complaint alleges that Gallagher played an independent role in Defendants’ purported 

scheme by using his “fake law firm”—Gallagher-Clifton—to accept referrals, after which he sent 

Demand Letters to Wyndham in exchange for lucrative referral fees. (See Doc. 41, ¶¶ 7–9, 73, 

154–56.) Thus, the Court rejects Gallagher’s argument. Wyndham adequately pleads a claim for 

conspiracy against the Defendants. Count VI will not be dismissed.  

3. FDUTPA (Count VII) 

In Count VII, Wyndham asserts a FDUTPA claim against all Defendants. (Id. ¶¶ 158–

167). FDUPTA prohibits “[u]nfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts or practices, and 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.” Fla. Stat. § 

501.204(1). To state such a claim, a plaintiff must allege three elements: (1) a deceptive act or 

unfair practice, (2) causation, and (3) actual damages. Caribbean Cruise Line, Inc. v. Better 

Business Bureau of Palm Beach Cty, Inc., 169 So. 3d 164, 167 (Fla. 4th DCA 2015).  

Wyndham claims that “Timeshare Owners Relief and Resort Legal Team have 

intentionally engaged in deceptive and unfair trade practices in violation of [FDUTPA] by 

soliciting Wyndham Owners through false and misleading advertising and marketing materials, 

including but not limited to, the [Subject Advertisements].” (Doc. 41, ¶ 161). Wyndham further 

alleges that Gallagher-Clifton, Gallagher, and Stewart “participated in the deceptive and unfair 

trade practices by enabling and participating in the activities of Timeshare Owners Relief and 

Resort Legal Team.” (Id. ¶¶ 162–63).   

Resort Legal Team argues that the FDUTPA claim should be dismissed because Wyndham 

fails to satisfy Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading standard. (Doc. 58, pp. 14–16). Timeshare Owners 
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Relief, on the other hand, insists that the FDUTPA claim should be dismissed because Wyndham 

insufficiently alleges causation and damages. (Doc. 47, pp. 25–27). Both parties are wrong. 

The Court is not convinced that Wyndham’s claim rests on allegations of fraud. But even if 

it does, Wyndham’s allegations suffice to satisfy Rule 9(b)’s heighten pleading requirements and 

to state a claim under FDUTPA. Wyndham identifies and details the Subject Advertisements that 

Defendants published or encouraged to be published. Wyndham also specifies where the Subject 

Advertisements were published, why the Subject Advertisements were false or misleading, how 

the Subject Advertisements deceived Wyndham Owners, how Wyndham was damaged, and what 

Defendants obtained as a consequence of the Subject Advertisements. (See Doc. 41, ¶¶ 3, 5–9, 44–

88, 158–167). Therefore, Wyndham has pled a viable FDUTPA claim. 

In any event, to the extent Wyndham asserts a FDUTPA claim based on Defendants’ 

alleged false advertising, the success of that claim is tied to its Lanham Act claim for false 

advertising. See Sovereign Military Hospitaller Order, 702 F.3d at 1296 (citing Nat. Answers, Inc. 

v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 529 F.3d 1325, 1333 (11th Cir. 2008)). So, just as the Court denies 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss the Lanham Act claim for false advertising (see Part III.A.), it also 

denies their motion to dismiss the FDUTPA claim. 

IV. Conclusion 

It is, therefore ORDERED that the Motions to Dismiss (Docs. 47, 58, 59) filed by 

Defendants Gallagher, Stewart, Gallagher-Clifton, Timeshare Owners Relief, and Resort Legal 

Team are DENIED. 
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DONE and ORDERED in Orlando, Florida on September 10, 2019. 
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